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James C. Leonard House

Cambridge -

c. 1895 and earlier

Private

The James C. Leonard house is a well preserved example of a two-and-a-half story
cross-gabled frame dwelling built in stages during the late nineteenth century. The
exterior of the center hall/single pile main block was largely renewed during the mid
1890s when it was repositioned on the lot as a separate, free-standing structure from 118
High Street. (See D-137) The Eastlake style front porch of turned posts, spindle and
bracket eave detailing and bracketed eaves contributes largely to its period appearance as
does the original German siding and two-story bay window on the southwest gable end.
The property is enhanced as well by the survival of a single story, one-room plan
outbuilding.

The late nineteenth century was a period of dramatic change in Cambridge as
seafood and vegetable canning and other businesses developed along the city’s harbor
and creek frontage as well as on its periphery. Brothers James C. and Ivy L. Leonard
joined efforts in the packing industry by further developing the creek frontage associated
with the former residence of William Thomas when it was sold in the wake of a court
settlement in 1893. Undeveloped commercially prior to 1893, the Leonard brothers
obviously purchased the creek-front parcel with the plan to build another oyster packing
plant on the inner harbor. Between the time of the printing of the 1891 and 1896
Sanborn Insurance maps, not only was there a new shucking plant on the bank behind the
houses under the name of the Choptank Oyster Packing Company, but the old Thomas

house had been divided in two. In 1910, James C. Leonard is recorded as selling a




portion of the creek‘frontage to Edward S. Phillips for $7,000, and the next year the
Sanborn Insurance map indicates that a new packing house had been erected under the
name Milford, Phillips & Bro., and the Leonard packing house had been relocated on a
subdivided part of the Dixon property next door. A business biography of James C.
Leonard stated at the turn of the century:
A prominent figure in the commercial life of Cambridge is Mr. J. C. Leonard. He
is interested in two important lines of business—oyster packing and brick

manufacture. He is among the larger and successful packers. His packing house
is located directly on the Cambridge water front. It is a two-story, brick building,

and admirably situated and arranged for receiving, shucking and packing oysters.

In season about seventy-five hands are employed, and on an average as much as
500 gallons of oysters are packing and shipped daily. The oysters are graded
according to size in three classes... These are packed in large buckets, barrels,
and half barrels and shipped at once by express and fast freight to western cities.
Two daily trains and two boat lines afford ample transportation facilities, and
enable dealers to receive fresh oysters the next day after shipment from this port.
Mr. Leonard is also an oyster planter, and operates a number of boats which are
used in dredging and planting. He secures his oysters in the river near by and
has been in his present location about seven years. Another successful enterprise
established by Mr. Leonard is the large brick planted located in the western part
of the city. He has fifty acres and has been making brick at this location about
six years. This spring (1901) the capacity was greatly enlarged and a new steam
plant was added, having a capacity of 40,000 brick per day. The bricks are
machine-pressed and wire-cut and are regular and uniform. All varieties are
made in burning, salmon, light, red, dark red, No. I paving, No. 2 paving, and
hard red and arch. Fine pressed brick are made to order as well as bay-window
and curved brick for walls. Almost thirty hands are employed, and the trade
extends throughout this section, and is continually growing, a fact due to the
superior quality of clay used and the excellence of manufacture.

Leonard family ownership of 120 High Street lasted until the mid twentieth
century under the tenure of James C. Leonard’s wife, Kate C. Leonard, and their
daughter, Rebecca C. (Leonard) Zeigler. In 1967 the property was purchased by the
Dorchester County Commissioners and for a period it was used as the headquarters of

the Dorchester Arts Center. In 2009 it was sold back into private hands.
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic James C. Leonard House
other

2. Location

street and number 120 High Street __not for publication
city, town Cambridge X vicinity
county Dorchester

3. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Mary Farrel McCoy
street and number 120 High Street telephone
city, town Cambridge state MD zipcode 21613

4. Location of Legal Description
stry of Dorcl C Clerk of C ber 1060 folio 219

city, town Cambridge tax map 301 taxparcel 50  taxID number 174519
5. Primary Location of Additional Data

Contributing Resource in National Register District

Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER

Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT

Other:

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count
district public agriculture landscape Contributing Noncontributing
x___building(s) x__private commerce/trade recreation/culture 1 buildings

structure both defense religion sites

site X domestic social structures

object education transportation objects
funerary work in progress 1 Total
government unknown
health care vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources

industry other: previously listed in the Inventory




7. Description Inventory No. D-369

Condition
___excellent ___ deteriorated
x __good ___ruins
___fair ___ altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

DESCRIPTION SUMMARY

The James C. Leonard house is located at 120 High Street in the center of Cambridge, Dorchester
County, Maryland. The two-and-a-half story, four-bay frame house was formerly attached to 118 High
Street. Around 1895, the house formerly owned by William Thomas, was divided into two dwellings,
and each individual house was enlarged and remodeled with Eastlake exterior finishes. The single-pile
main block is supported on a brick foundation and the exterior is sheathed with German siding. The
steeply pitched cross-gable roof is covered with asphalt shingles. Attached to the back of the house is a
two-and-a-half story rear wing, which is extends farther to the back with a two-story wing. Standing in
the back yard is a single-story, one-room plan frame outbuilding.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The James C. Leonard house is a two-and-a-half story, four-bay, single-pile frame dwelling that was
formerly part of the house next door at 118 High Street. The two houses were separated and remodeled
around 1895. Supported on a raised brick foundation, the exterior is clad with German siding, and the
steeply pitched roof is covered with asphalt shingles. The house extends to the southeast (rear) with a
stepped profile service wing,

The northwest (main) elevation is a two-and-a-half story, four-bay elevation with a center double
door entrance with glazed upper panels and Victorian paneled lower section below the lock rail. There
is one single-pane sash window to the right (southeast) and two single-pane sash windows to the left
(northeast). The entire first floor front is sheltered by an Eastlake style hip roofed, turned post porch
that has retained all its original features including a turned baluster handrail, spindle and pierced bracket
decoration under the decorated cornice. Factory produced brackets enhance the porch cornice on a
regular spacing with each porch post, and small medallion decorations enhanced the frieze. The second
floor is lighted by four single-pane sash windows flanked by louvered shutters. Centered on the roof is
a cross gable pierced by a pointed arch window. To each side of the cross gable is a gable roofed
dormer enriched with a carved fan decoration in each gable. The eaves of each dormer are extended
with sloped soffits.

The southeast gable end elevation of the main block is a single-pile width dominated by a two-story
three-sided bay windowed pavilion pierced with paired single-pane sash windows on the front and single
one-over-one sash windows on each side. The wall section between the windows is flared outward and
supported underneath by carved brackets. The surface of the flared section is covered with fishscale
shingles. The upper gable end is pierced by a paired set of single-pane sash windows, and the edge of
the roof is finished with an extended eave.

The northeast gable end is less detailed than the southeast end. It has a single one-over-one sash
window on each floor. The interior end brick stack has a corbelled gable.
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The southeast (rear) wall of the main block is largely covered by the two-and-a-half story rear wing
that extends farther southeast with a two-story section.




8. Significance Inventory No. D-369

Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
__1600-1699 __ agriculture __ economics __ health/medicine __ performing arts
__ 1700-1799 __ archeology __ education __ industry __ philosophy
x _1800-1899 X architecture __ engineering __invention __ politics/government
1900-1999 __art entertainment/ __ landscape architecture x religion
__ 2000- __ commerce recreation __law __ science
__ communications __ethnic heritage __ literature __ social history
__ community planning  ___ exploration/ __ maritime history __ transportation
__ conservation settlement ___ military __ other:
Specific dates Architect/Builder

Construction dates

Evaluation for:

National Register Maryland Register X not evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form ~ see manual.)

SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY

The James C. Leonard house is a well preserved example of a two-and-a-half story cross-gabled frame
dwelling built in stages during the late nineteenth century. The exterior of the center hall/single pile
main block was largely renewed during the mid 1890s when it repositioned on the lot as a separate free-
standing structure from 118 High Street. The Eastlake style front porch of turned posts, spindle and
bracket eave detailing and bracketed eaves contributes largely to its well preserved state along with the
uncovered German siding. The property is enhanced as well by the survival of a detached one-room
plan outbuilding.

HISTORY AND SUPPORT

The late nineteenth century was a period of dramatic change in Cambridge as the seafood and vegetable
canning businesses were developed along the shorelines of the inner harbor and Cambridge Creek.
Brothers James C. Leonard and Ivy L. Leonard joined efforts in the packing industry and developed the
creek frontage associated with the former residence of William Thomas when it was sold in the wake of
court settlement of the his estate in 1893." Undeveloped commercially prior to 1893, the Leonard
brothers obviously purchased the creek-front parcel with the plan to build another plant on the harbor.
Between the time of the printing of the 1891 and 1896 issues of the Sanborn insurance maps not only
was there a new shucking plant on the bank under the name Choptank Oyster Packing Company, but the
old Thomas house had been divided in two.? In addition to the inner harbor location there was a packing
house out on the river-front as well. In 1910, James C. Leonard is recorded as selling a portion of the
creek frontage to Edward S. Phillips for $7,000, and the next year the Sanborn Insurance map indicates
that a new packing house had been erected by the name Milford, Phillips & Bro, and the Leonard
packing house had been relocated on a subdivided part of the Dixon property next door.” A business
biography of James C. Leonard stated at the turn of the century:

' Dorchester County Land Record, CL 18/208, 7 April 1894, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland.
* Sanborn Insurance Maps, 1891 and 1896 issues, Library of Congress.
? Sanborn Insurance Map, 1911, Library of Congress.
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A prominent figure in the commercial life of Cambridge is Mr. J. C. Leonard. He is interested in two
important lines of business—oyster packing and brick manufacturing. He is among the larger and
successful packers. His packing house is located directly on the Cambridge water front. It is a two-
story, brick building, and admirably situated and arranged for receiving, shucking and packing
oysters. In season about seventy-five hands are employed, and on an average as much as 500 gallons
of oysters are packed and shipped daily. The oysters are graded according to size in three

classes... These are packed in large buckets, barrels, and half barrels and shipped at once by express
and fast freight to western cities. Two daily trains and two boat lines afford ample transportation
facilities, and enable dealers to receive fresh oysters the next day after shipment from this port. Mr.
Leonard is also an oyster planter, and operates a number of boats which are used in dredging and
planting. He secures his oysters in the river near by and has been in his present location about seven
years. Another successful enterprise established by Mr. Leonard is the large brick plant located in
the western part of the city. He has fifty acres and has been making brick at this location about six
vears. This spring (1901) the capacity was greatly enlarged and a new steam plant was added,
having a capacity of 40,000 brick per day. The bricks are machine-pressed and wire-cut and are
regular and uniform. All varieties are made in burning, salmon, light, red, dark red, No. | paving,
No. 2 paving, and hard red and arch. Fine pressed bricks are made to order as well as bay-window
and curved brick for walls. Al most thirty hands are employed, and the trade extends throughout this
section, and is continually growing, a fact due to the superior quality of clay used and the excellence
of manufacture.’

Leonard family ownership of 120 High Street lasted until the mid twentieth century under the tenure
of James C. Leonard’s wife, Kate F. Leonard, and their daughter Rebecca C. (Leonard) Zeigler. In
1967 it was purchased by the Dorchester County Commissioners and for a period and used as the
headquarters of the Dorchester Arts Center. In 2009 it was sold back into private ownership.

* The Eastern Shore of Maryland, A Business Review and Sketch Book: Resources, Industries and Commercial Advantages of a
Remarkable Section. Baltimore, Maryland: R. H. Woodward Co. Publishers, 1901, p. lv.
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Inventory No. D-369

James C. Leonard House
120 High Street
Cambridge, Dorchester County, Maryland

Map 301, Parcel 50

1060/219

12.2.2011

DLP 954/323

12.4.2009

151/497

5.17.1967

Garnett McCoy
to

Mary Farrell McCoy

County Council of Dorchester County
to
M. Garnett McCoy and Mary J. Farrell

(formerly 24 High Street)

Rebecca Ziegler
to

County Commissioners of Dorchester County
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RSM 47/208 | J. Thomas Leonard, unmarried

to
5.22.1943 Rebecca C. Ziegler and G. Raymond Ziegler
WLR 2/628 James C. Leonard

to
11.4.1910 Edward S. Phillips

$7,000

CL 33/200 James C. Leonard and Katie Leonard

to
6.26.1907 Ivy L. Leonard

$4,500 (Mortgage dated 5.14.1901, CL 11/241)

CL 18/208 Alonzo L. Miles, trustee
to
4.7.1894 James C. Leonard

$7,823.00 all that lot, piece or parcel of ground situate lying and
being on the south side of High Street in said town of
Cambridge between the house and lot owned and
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occupied by R. H. Dixon and wife on one side and the

home place and residence of the late Charles F. Goldsborough
deceased on the other and running back to the waters of Cambridge
Creek, the same being the place where at William Thomas late

Of Dorchester resided at the time of his death....

Decree of Circuit Court, dated 4.3.1893, Thomas A. Willis,
Complainant and Maria J. Thomas, Executor of William Thomas,
Deceased and others Defendants, the above named Alonzo L. Miles
was appointed Trustee with authority to sell the real estate




9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No. D-369

Dorchester County Land Records, various volumes, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland

Sanborn Insurance Maps, various issues, Library of Congress.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property 10,327 square feet

Acreage of historical setting
Quadrangle name

Cambridge, Marvland Quadrangle scale: 1:24.000

Verbal boundary description and justification

The metes and bounds of this property are coincidental with the current boundary of the lot.

11. Form Prepared by

name/title Paul B. Touart, Architectural Historian

organization Private Consultant date 1.19.2012

street & number P.0O.Box § telephone  410-651-1094
city or town Westover state Maryland 21871

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland Legislature
to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,
1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
DHCD/DHCP
100 Community Place
Crownsville, MD 21032-2023
410-514-7600
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N-369, James C. Leonard House
== 7 Sanborn Insurance Map, 1896
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LEONARD HOUSE - 118-120 High Street

118 and 120 High Street were originally one large frame
house of about 20 rooms constructed in 1790, by Dr. and
Mrs. William Robertson. In 1892, after changing ownership
several times, the property was purchased by Capt. James
C. Leonard, who operated the property as a hotel known as
the "Leonard House". It was a convenient stopping place for
travelers by steamboat and sailing vessels. In 1906,
Capt. Leonard decided to discontinue the hotel. He split
the house in half, moving what is now 118 High Street a
distance of about 15 feet. Although 118 still retains the

original woodwork on the interior, 120 was completely reno-

vated around the turn of the century.
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MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST WORKSHEET
. NOMINATION FORM

for the
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES, NATIONAL PARKS SERVICE

AME

COMMON:

Dorchester Arts Center
AND/OR HISTORIC:
Leonard House
c [EeR e
STREET AND NUMBER!

120 High Street

CITY OR TOWN:

Cambridge
STATE COUNTY:
Marvland Dorchester
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CATEGORY ACCESSIBLE
" (Check One) DNERMUP STATUR TO THE PUBLIC
=
[C] Distriet ) Building K] Public Public Acquisition: [ Occupied Yes:
o [ Site [] Structure |1 Private ] In Process [ Unceupted (Gk Restricted
— O] Object (] Beth [C] Being Considered [ Preservation work ] Unrestricted
- in progress C] Ne
‘ FRESENT USE (Check One or More as Appropriate)
[] Agricultural ] Government [0 Park [C] Tronsportation [0 Comments
o [] Commercial [ Industrial [O] Private Residence X Other (Specify)
o [ Educational [0 Military [ Religious Arts Center
P [] Entertainment ] Museum [ Scientific
=z |4 OWNER OF PROPERTY ”
= NER'S N AME:
County Commissioners of Dorchester Countv
L STREET AND NUMBER:
w
w CITY OR TOWN: STATE:

5. LOCATION OF LEGALDESCRIPTION

L3 COURTHOUSE, REGISTRY OF DEEDS, ETC:

. Dorchester County Courthouse

STREET AND NUMBER:

206 High Street

CITY OR TOWN: STATE

_ Cambridge Marvland 2161
Title Reference of Currep & Pg, #): Liber 151/Falia 1497
PRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS SRl el R o

TITLE OF SURVEY:

DATE OF SURVEY: [] Federal [] State ] County O Lecal
DEPOSITORY FOR SURVEY RECORDS:

. STREET AND NUMBER:
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7. DESCRIPTION

(Check One)
CoiibiTion [C] Excellent E]_Good [] Fair [C] Deteriorated [] Ruins [] ‘Unexpossd
(Check One) (Check One)
(X Altered [(] Uncltered [ Movad [} Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT 24D ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APFPEARANCE

This building and the one next door, 118 High Street,
were originally one large house of about 20 rooms that
was constructed in 1790, The original appearance of the
exterior is not known, however., In 1906 the house was
split in half, and what is now 118 was moved a distance
of about 15 feet. Although 118 High Street retains the
original paneling and woodwork on the interior,120 was
apparently renovated around the same time the house was
divided,

Llthough the exterior of the two houses are similar
in appearance, there are differences, Both are two and
one-half story frame houses with German siding, and a
one story front porch. 120 High Street is a four bay
structure with a gable roof with center gable., 118 High
Street consists of three bays across the front but has a
jerkin head roof., It is estimated the the front porch
with hand carved railing was added in 1859, The crafts-
manship of the porch on 120 High Street is not as fine
as that of 118, however, and is apparently not the
original., This porch, supported by turned posts and
brackets, has a ballustrade and gallery with turned
spindles, Corner brackets with tracery ornamentation
support the gallery. The porch is further embellishadby
a row of dentils and a circle motif under the cornice
of the porch., The center gable has a pointed arched
window and is flanked by a gabled dormer on either side.
On the south side of the building is a two story poly-
gonal bay window. £ wing has been added to the rear,
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SEE INST !IL CTIONS

D-3¢9

[ SicNiFicANCE

PERIOD (Check One or More as Appropriate)

[[J Pre-Celumbian
[ 15th Century

G 16th c.nh.lry
[ 17th Century

E 18th Century
[CJ 19th Century

34 20th Century

SPECIFIC DATE(S) (If Applicable andKnown) 1790 1906

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Check One or More aa Appropriate)

Abor iginal (] Education [ Political X1 Urban Planning
(] Prehistoric [] Engineering [C] Religion/Phi- [] Other (Specity)
(] Historic [ Industry losophy

[ Agriculture [ Invention [C] Science

M) Architecture [ Lendscope [ Seulpture

O Art Architecture [] Social/Human-

[ Commerce [ Literature itarian

[] Communications [ Military [] Theoter

[] Conservation [ Music [C] Transportation

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

History:

The lot on which this building stands, originally
running from High Street back to Cambridge Creek, was
purchased in 1739 by Dr, William Murray and conveyed
to his daughter, Margaret, wife of Edward Trippe. The
property eventually passed to Henrietta Murray, wife
of Dr, William Robertson, who had the house built in
1790,

This house and the one next door, 118 High Street,
were originally one large house of about 20 rooms,
After the death of Dr, and Mrs. Robertson, the property
descended to their children. The property remained in
the same family a total of 114 years, from 1739 until
1853, when it was sold to Lewis Ross. The next owner
was William Thomas, and at his death in 1892, the
property was purchased by Capt. James C, Leonard, who
operated the property as a hotel, known as "The Leonard
House", This became a well known stopping place for
travelers by steamboat and sailing vessels., In 1906,
Capt. Leonard decided to give up the hotel, He had
half of the house, 118 High Street, moved a distance
of about 15 feet, He and his family lived in that
half until death., The other half, 120 High Street,
was sold to Dorchester County in 1967 and is now
occupied by the Dorchester Arts Center,

Significance:

Although altered in the 19th and 20th century,
this is one of the older houses on High Street, dating
to 1750, Once joined to the house next door, this is
the most altered of the pair. 1In spite of renovation,
the Leonard houses are still of architectural interest
and contribute significantly to the historic character
of High Street,

Ps - 709




[10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA
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Col. Clement Sullivane, article reprinted in the
Daily Banner, April 23, 1925

LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES
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APPROXIMATE ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY:

‘Acreage Justification:

|
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NMAME AND TITLE:

Catherine L. Moore,

ORGANIZATION DATE

11/10/75

STREET AND NUMBER:

Route 3, Box 32

CITY OR TOWN: ETATE

Cambridge Maryland

State Liaison Officer Review:

(Office Use Only)

Significance of this property is:
National [] State [] Local [

Signature
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120 HIGH STREET PLC 151/497
CAMBRIDGE, MARYLAND

Add to Cathe Moore'smaterial:

This house served as the residence of James C. Leonard, who purchased
118-120 High Street from the estate of William Thomas in 1894. Leonard divided
the house into present dat 118 and 120 High Street between 1894 and 1896. 1In 1911
Leonard conveyed a life estate in the house to his wife. Following her death the
house was devised to their flaughter Rebecca C. Leonard (later Ziegler). 1In 1967,
she sold the property to the Dorchester County Commissioners. The house now serves
as the headquarters for the Borchester Arts Center.

Both this house and 118 High Street represent older houses that had been
expanded and remodeled in the 1890's. Both reflect the prosperity of Cambridge in

thelate nineteenth century when both of their owners became wealthy in the oyster

business.

Sources:
Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland
Court Records.
Land Records.
Will Record.s
Dorchester County Office Building, Cambridge, Maryland

AssessmentRecords.

Research by:
Terrance Walbert

1976
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